
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA 

ATLANTA DIVISION 

  

GEORGIA STATE CONFERENCE * 

OF THE NATIONAL     * 

ASSOCIATION FOR THE     * 

ADVANCEMENT OF COLORED   * 

PEOPLE, and COALITION FOR   * CIVIL ACTION FILE 

THE PEOPLES’ AGENDA,    * NO. 11-CV-1849-WBH 

        * 

 v.       * 

        * 

BRIAN KEMP, in his official capacity as * 

Secretary of State, and CLYDE L.    * 

REESE, III, in his official capacity as  * 

Commissioner of the Georgia     * 

Department of Human Services,   * 

        * 

 Defendants.     * 

  

MOTION TO DISMISS 

  

          COME NOW, BRIAN KEMP, in his official capacity as Secretary of 

State (“Secretary Kemp”), and CLYDE L. REESE, III., in his official 

capacity as Commissioner of the Georgia Department of Human Services 

(“Commissioner Reese”), by and through their counsel of record, Samuel S. 

Olens, the Attorney General for the State of Georgia, and file their Motion to 

Dismiss pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6).    

 The organizational Plaintiffs complain that the State of Georgia is 

failing to comply with the National Voter Registration Act of 1993 

(“NVRA”), 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg et seq., commonly known as the “Motor 
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Voter Act”.  Specifically, Plaintiffs claim two violations: First, Plaintiffs 

allege that in September 2010, some offices of the Georgia Department of 

Human Services (“DHS”) were not providing DHS clients with voter 

registration forms with benefits applications and were not asking DHS 

clients whether they wanted to register to vote every time those clients 

visited a DHS office to apply for public assistance, renew or recertify such 

assistance or change their addresses for receipt of public assistance.  

Complaint, ¶¶ 26, 27.  Second, Plaintiffs claim that the State of Georgia is 

not complying with the NVRA because voter registration applications (and 

presumably the required assistance) are not offered to DHS clients unless the 

clients are conducting the benefits transactions in person.  Complaint, ¶ 31. 

 Plaintiffs’ Complaint should be dismissed under Fed.R.Civ.P. 

12(b)(1) because this Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction for the 

following reasons:  1) Plaintiffs lack standing to bring this lawsuit; 2) prior 

to initiating this lawsuit, Plaintiffs failed to comply with the notice 

requirements set forth in the NVRA, 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-9(b)(1); and 3) 

Plaintiffs’ claim relating to two DHS internal voter registration policies 

(which relate to Plaintiffs’ first claim) is moot because both policies had 

been corrected prior to Plaintiffs initiating this lawsuit.   
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 Even if Plaintiffs’ Complaint is not subject to dismissal pursuant to 

Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(1), Plaintiffs’ claims are subject to dismissal under 

Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be 

granted.  Plaintiffs claim that Defendants are in violation of the NVRA 

because public assistance offices are not providing voter registration forms 

or voter registration services and assistance to applicants and recipients as 

required under the NVRA.  However, Plaintiffs failed to plead this claim 

with sufficient specificity or to identify any “particularized injury” that 

entitles them to any relief.    

   The grounds for Defendants’ motion are set forth in more detail in the 

attached brief.  For the reasons set forth herein and in the attached brief, 

Defendants submit that Plaintiffs’ Complaint should be dismissed in its 

entirety with all costs cast against Plaintiffs.    

           Respectfully submitted, 

      SAMUEL S. OLENS         551540 

      Attorney General             

  

                                                          DENNIS R. DUNN           234098 

                                                          Deputy Attorney General 

                                                        

               STEFAN RITTER             606950 

                                                          Senior Assistant Attorney General 

   

                                                          __/s/ Julia B. Anderson________  

                           JULIA B. ANDERSON      017560 

                                                          Senior Assistant Attorney General 
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Please address all  

Communication to: 

  

JULIA B. ANDERSON 

Senior Assistant Attorney General 

40 Capitol Square, S.W. 

Atlanta, Georgia  30334-1300 

(404) 463-3630 

FAX (404) 657-9932 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

  

I hereby certify that I electronically filed the foregoing MOTION TO 

DISMISS with the Clerk of Court using the CM/ECF system which will 

automatically send email notification of such filing to the following 

attorneys of record and by mailing by regular first class mail to those 

attorneys not currently admitted pro hac vice.  The attorneys who are being 

served by mail are indicated with an asterisk.    

Moffatt Laughlin McDonald 

ACLU Foundation Voting Rights Project 

230 Peachtree Street, NW 

Suite 1440 

Atlanta, GA  30303-1504 

 

Nancy Gbana Abudu 

ACLU Southern Regional Office 

Suite 1440 

230 Peachtree Street 

Atlanta, GA  30303 

 

Neil A. Steiner  * 

Robert W. Topp   

DECHERT LLP 

1095 Avenue of the Americas 

New York, New York  10036 

    

Nicole K. Zeitler  * 

Niyati Shah 

PROJECT VOTE 

737 1/2 8
th
 Street SE 

Washington, DC  20003 
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Robert A. Kengle   * 

Mark A. Posner 

LAWYERS COMMITTEE FOR CIVIL RIGHTS UNDER LAW 

1401 New York Avenue, N.W., Suite 400 

Washington, D.C.  20005 

 

Brenda Wright  * 

DEMOS:  A NETWORK FOR IDEAS AND ACTION 

358 Chestnut Hill Avenue, Suite 303 

Brighton, Massachusetts  02135 

 

Allegra Chapman   * 

DEMOS:  A NETWORK FOR IDEAS AND ACTION 

220 Fifth Avenue, 5th Floor 

New York, New York  10001 

 

Kim Keenan   * 

Anson Asaka 

NATIONAL ASSOCIATION FOR THE ADVANCEMENT OF 

COLORED PEOPLE, INC. 

NAACP National Office 

4805 Mt. Hope Drive  

Baltimore, MD  21215 

  

  

  

This 27th day of June 2011. 

  

  

  

                                                          __/s/ Julia B. Anderson________  

                                     JULIIA B. ANDERSON     

                                                          Senior Assistant Attorney General 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA 

ATLANTA DIVISION 

  

GEORGIA STATE CONFERENCE * 

OF THE NATIONAL     * 

ASSOCIATION FOR THE     * 

ADVANCEMENT OF COLORED   * 

PEOPLE, and COALITION FOR   * CIVIL ACTION FILE  

THE PEOPLES’ AGENDA,    * NO. 11-CV-1849-WBH 

        * 

 v.       * 

        * 

BRIAN KEMP, in his official capacity as * 

Secretary of State, and CLYDE L.    * 

REESE, III, in his official capacity as  * 

Commissioner of the Georgia     * 

Department of Human Services,   * 

        * 

 Defendants.     * 

   

BRIEF IN SUPPORT 

OF MOTION TO DISMISS 

 

 Organizational Plaintiffs, the Georgia State Conference of the NAACP 

(“NAACP”) and the Coalition for the Peoples’ Agenda (“Peoples’ Agenda”), filed 

this lawsuit on June 6, 2011, against Georgia Secretary of State Brian Kemp 

(“Secretary Kemp”) and Commissioner Clyde L. Reese, III of the Georgia 

Department of Human Services (“Commissioner Reese”) seeking declaratory and 

injunctive relief under the National Voters Registration Act of 1993 (NVRA), 42 

U.S.C. § 1973gg et seq, commonly known as the “Motor Voter Act”.   

Specifically, Plaintiffs allege that Defendants are failing to comply with their 
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 2 

responsibilities under Section 7 of the NVRA because some Department of Human 

Services (“DHS”) offices are not offering voter registration opportunities to 

applicants or recipients of public assistance each time an application is made, a 

renewal or recertification done, or a change of address for receipt of public 

assistance is completed.  Complaint, ¶¶ 26, 27.  Plaintiffs also claim that in limiting 

voter registration to DHS clients conducting benefits transaction in person (just as 

the NVRA does), the State somehow violates the NVRA.  Complaint, ¶ 31.  

Plaintiffs ask the Court to grant declaratory and injunctive relief under Section 11 

of the NVRA, 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-9(b). 

   Plaintiffs’ Complaint is subject to be dismissed on the following grounds:   

1) Plaintiffs do not have standing to bring this lawsuit; 2) prior to initiating this 

lawsuit, Plaintiffs failed to comply with the notice requirements set forth in Section 

11 of the NVRA, 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-9(b)(1); and 3) Plaintiffs’ claim relating to 

two DHS internal voter registration policies (which relate to Plaintiffs’ first claim) 

is moot because both policies had been corrected prior to Plaintiffs initiating this 

lawsuit.   

 Even if Plaintiffs’ Complaint is not subject to dismissal pursuant to 

Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(1), Plaintiffs’ claims are subject to dismissal under 

Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.  

Plaintiffs claim that Defendants are in violation of the NVRA because public 
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assistance offices are not providing voter registration forms or voter registration 

services and assistance to applicants and recipients as required under the NVRA.  

Furthermore, Plaintiffs failed to allege how any action or failure to act by either 

Secretary Kemp or Commissioner Reese caused any “particularized injury” that 

entitles them to any relief.    

STATUTORY BACKGROUND 

 In 1993, Congress passed the NVRA in 1993, 107 Stat. 77, 42 U.S.C.  

§ 1973gg et seq., to “increase the number of eligible citizens who register to vote 

in elections for Federal office,” to “protect the integrity of the electoral process,” 

and to “ensure that accurate and current voter registration rolls are maintained.”  

Harkless v. Brunner, 545 F. 3d 445, 449 (6
th

 Cir. 2008) (quoting 42 U.S.C.  

§ 1973gg-2(b)).        

 Section 4 of the NVRA requires states to establish procedures for voter 

registration in Federal elections “by application in person . . . at Federal, State, or 

nongovernmental offices designated under Section 7.”  42 U.S.C.  

§ 1973gg-2(a)(3)B).  Under Section 7, all offices in the state that provide public 

assistance must be designated as voter registration agencies.  42 U.S.C.  

§ 1973gg-5(a)(2)(A).  

 Those public assistance agencies must: 1) distribute mail voter registration 

application forms; 2) provide assistance to applicants in completing the forms, 
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unless the applicant refuses such assistance; and 3) accept completed forms for 

transmittal to the Secretary of State.  42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-5(a)(4)(A).  Section 7 

further specifies that a mail voter registration application shall be distributed with 

each application for public service or assistance, and with each recertification, 

renewal, or change of address form relating to such service or assistance, unless the 

applicant/recipient declines in writing to register to vote.  42 U.S.C.  

§ 1973gg-5(a)(6).  The staff at state public assistance offices are required to 

provide the same degree of assistance with regard to the registration application 

form as is provided by the office with regard to the completion of its own forms, 

unless the applicant refuses such assistance.  42 U.S.C. § 42 U.S.C. 1973gg-

5(a)(6)(C).
1
  

 The NVRA requires that “[e]ach State shall designate a State officer or 

employee as the chief State election official to be responsible for coordination of 

State responsibilities” under the NVRA.  42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-8.  Furthermore, the 

NVRA provides that “a person who is aggrieved by a violation of this Act may 

provide written notice of the violation to the chief election official of the State  

                                                 
1
  Subparagraph (a)(6) of Section 7 details the required contents of the mail 

voter registration form as well as a form known as the “declination” form, which 

indicates whether or not the applicant or recipient chose to register to vote.  42 

U.S.C. § 1973gg-5(a)(6)(A).  Plaintiffs have not asserted any violations related to 

the contents of the mail voter registration form or the “declination” form. 
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involved.”  42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-9(b)(1).  If the noticed violation is not corrected  

with 90 days after receipt of the notice from the aggrieved person, such person may 

bring a civil action “for declaratory or injunctive relief with respect to the 

violation.”  42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-9(b)(2).   

 During its 1994 session, the Georgia General Assembly passed legislation to 

implement the requirements of the NVRA.  1994 Ga. Laws 1443 (Act 1207, H.B. 

1429).  The Secretary of State is designated the “Chief Election Official” as 

provided under Section 10 of the NVRA.  O.C.G.A. § 21-2-210.  Georgia has 

designated each office that provides public assistance as a voter registration 

agency.  O.C.G.A. § 21-2-222(b).  DHS is the state agency responsible for the 

administration of public assistance in the State of Georgia, including, but not 

limited to, the administration of the Food Stamp, TANF (Temporary Assistance for 

Needy Families), and Medicaid programs.  See O.C.G.A. §§ 49-3-4 and 49-3-6.      

 Each public assistance office shall:  1) distribute mail voter registration 

application forms; 2) provide assistance to applicants in completing the forms, 

unless the applicant refuses such assistance; and 3) accept completed forms for 

transmittal to the Secretary of State.  O.C.G.A. § 21-2-222(d). 

 O.C.G.A. 21-2-222(f) provides that each designated voter registration 

agency shall “[d]istribute with each application for such service or assistance and 

with each recertification, renewal, or change of address form relating to such 
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service or assistance, when such application, recertification, renewal, or change of 

address is made in person, the mail voter registration application form provided for 

in Code Section 21-2-223 unless the applicant declines in writing to register to 

vote.” (emphasis added).      

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 On January 25, 2011, an attorney for an organization called “Project Vote”, 

sent a letter to Secretary Kemp on behalf of the NAACP in which she alleged that 

“substantial evidence” existed demonstrating that the State was “systematically 

failing to provide voter registration services at its public assistance office.”  

Defendants’ Exhibit A.
2
     

 In that letter, the NAACP said that a survey of Georgia’s NVRA compliance 

had been done, which included visits to eleven DHS offices and interviews with 

fifty DHS clients.   Id. at 2.  However, Georgia has at least one state public 

assistance office in each of its 159 counties and in some counties more than one.   

http://dfcs.dhr.georgia.gov/portal/site/DHSDFCS/menuitem.76e501556de1714707

7a8110da1010a0/?vgnextoid=8eb92b48d9a4ff00VgnVCM100000bf01010aRCRD. 

(last visited on June 22, 2011).   

                                                 
2
  Copies of all other correspondence between the attorneys for the NAACP 

and Secretary Kemp’s office during the notice period are attached hereto as 

Defendants’ Exhibits A-1 through A-6.   
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 The NAACP specifically alleged that “Georgia’s state law and internal DHS 

policies do not comply with the NVRA.”  Defendants’ Exhibit A at 2.  First, the 

NAACP alleged that Georgia law was contrary to the NVRA because it limits 

offering voter registration applications to “in person” applications for services, 

renewals, recertifications, and changes of address.  Id.   However, the NAACP did 

not cite any section of the NVRA in support of its position that the State is required 

to distribute voter registration applications or to provide voter registration services 

to applicants or recipients by mail, telephone or internet.  Second, the NAACP 

alleged that DHS internal policy was in violation of the NVRA in that it provided 

that staff were not required to offer voter registration services to an applicant or 

recipient if he had previously declined in writing an offer to register to vote.  Id.   

As discussed in Section C, infra, this issue is now moot.   

 On February 15, 2011, Secretary Kemp responded in writing to the 

NAACP’s January 15, 2011 letter.  Defendants’ Exhibit A-1.  Pursuant to his 

statutory duties to coordinate the State’s NVRA responsibilities, Secretary Kemp 

notified the NAACP in that letter that his office was commencing an internal 

investigation into its allegations.  Id. at 1.  In that regard, Secretary Kemp 

requested additional information and documents related to the NAACP’s claims.  

As Secretary Kemp explained in his letter, “with hundreds of DHS offices 

throughout the State, our ability to conduct an internal review for NVRA 
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compliance is severely limited without specific information about your 

investigation.”  Id.   

 On February 25, 2011, the NAACP responded to Secretary Kemp’s request 

for information by stating that the investigation was conducted in September 2010 

and providing only generalized information about the investigation.  Defendants’ 

Exhibit A-2.  The only specific information the NAACP provided to Secretary was 

a copy of two internal DHS policies and a list of the eleven DHS offices that were 

visited.  Id.  Despite repeated requests, Secretary Kemp was never provided with 

any other  specific information from the NAACP relating to its allegation that 

“Georgia is systematically failing to provide the voter registration services at its 

public assistance offices that are required by the NVRA.”  Defendants’ Exhibit A.   

 As shown from the correspondence between the NAACP’s attorneys and 

Secretary Kemp’s office, Secretary Kemp worked throughout the notice period to 

obtain additional information regarding the NAACP’s claims in an effort to 

determine their exact nature so that his office could coordinate with DHS to 

resolve them.  Defendants’ Exhibits A-1 through A-6.   

 On April 22, 2011, Secretary Kemp sent a letter to the NAACP enclosing a 

copy of a memorandum issued by DHS the previous day which revised and 

clarified its voter registration requirements.  Defendants’ Exhibit A-3.  This 

memorandum stated that all public assistance applicants or recipients, including 
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Food Stamps, TANF, and Medicaid, must be offered voter registration services 

when applying in person for services, recertifying or renewing, or reporting a 

change of address.  Defendants’ Exhibit E.    

 DHS had issued these two memoranda on August 1, 2009, updating the 

TANF and Medicaid Policy Manuals regarding voter registration.  In both 

instances, the policies were changed to state that once a person declined in writing 

an offer to register to vote, staff was no longer required to ask whether that person 

wanted to register.  Defendants’ Exhibits B and C.
3
  This revision to prior policy 

was inconsistent with the NVRA and Georgia law which require that applicants or 

recipients must be offered voter registration services each time they apply in 

person when the applicant or recipient is applying for services, recertifying or 

renewing, or reporting a change of address.  42 U.S.C. §§ 1973gg-2(a)(3)(B) and 

1973gg-5(a)(6)(A) and O.C.G.A. § 21-2-222(f)(1).   

 However, on November 1, 2009, DHS again revised the Medicaid Policy 

Manual, including the voter registration policy, and it was corrected to reflect that 

all applicants/recipients needed to be asked whether they wanted to register to vote.   

Defendants’ Exhibit D.  Thus, only the TANF policy was not in compliance with 

the NVRA on January 25, 2011, when the NAACP sent their notice.      

                                                 
3
 At the time these memoranda were issued, the Department was known as the 

“Georgia Department of “Human Resources.”   The Department has since been 

reorganized and renamed as the “Georgia Department of Human Services.”  See 

O.C.G.A. § 49-1-1.    
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 Plaintiff Peoples’ Agenda never provided any notice of any violation of the 

NVRA to Defendants.  On Friday, June 3, 2011, the NAACP sent a letter to 

Secretary Kemp stating that the “NAACP intends to move forward with litigation 

imminently, and has been joined in this effort by the Coalition for the Peoples’ 

Agenda.”  Defendants’ Exhibit A-6.  Plaintiffs NAACP and Peoples’ Agenda filed 

this lawsuit the following Monday, June 6, 2011.  [Doc. 1].   

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

 On a motion to dismiss, the Court must construe all facts in the light most 

favorable to the Plaintiff.  Hishon v. King and Spalding, 467 U.S. 69, 73 (1984); 

Garfield v. NDC Health Corp., 466 F.3d 1255, 1261 (11
th

 Cir. 2006).  However, 

conclusory allegations and unwarranted deductions of fact are not admitted as true. 

Cotton v. Massachusetts Mut. Life Ins. Co., 402 F.3d 1267, 1278 (11th Cir. 2005).  

See also Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 1949 (2009) (citing Bell Atlantic Corp. 

v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)).   

 In considering a motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, a 

district court may consider facts outside of the pleadings.  Muhammad v. HSBC 

Bank USA, N.A., 399 Fed. Appx. 460 462 (11
th
 Cir. 2010)(citing Goodman ex rel. 

Goodman v. Sipos, 259 F.3d 1327, 1231, n. 6 (11
th
 Cir. 2001)).     
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ARGUMENT AND CITATION OF AUTHORITY 

 A. Plaintiffs Lack Standing To Bring A Claim Under Section 

  7 Of The NVRA.     

 

  The party invoking federal jurisdiction bears the burden of proving 

standing.  Common Cause/Georgia v. Billups, 554 F.3d 1340, 1349 (11
th

 Cir. 

2009).  In order to sue based on injuries to itself, an organization must meet the 

same three-part standing test that applies to individuals.  Nat’l Coal. For Students 

with Disabilities Educ. and Legal Defense Fund v. Scales, 150 F. Supp. 2d 845, 

849 (D.Md. 2001)(citing Havens Realty Corp. v. Coleman, 455 U.S. 363, 379 

(1982)).  Accordingly, both Plaintiffs must satisfy the following three 

constitutional requirements in order to have standing:  

(1) they have suffered a particularized, concrete injury to 

a legally protected interest (injury in fact); (2) the injury 

is fairly traceable to the challenged action (causation); 

and (3) it is likely that the injury may be redressed by 

judicial action (redressability).  

 

Charles H. Wesley Educ. Found., Inc. v. Cox, 408 F.3d 1349, 1352 (11
th

 Cir. 

2005).  See also Common Cause, 554 F.3d at 1349 (quoting Fla. State Conference 

of NAACP v. Browning, 522 F.3d 1153, 1159 (11th Cir. 2008)); ACORN v. Scott, 

2008 U.S.Dist. LEXIS 51671 at *6-7 (C.D. Mo. 2008) (citing Lujan v. Defenders 

of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560-61)(1992)). 

 Plaintiffs allege that they “have expended and continue to expend substantial 

time and resources in an effort to make voter registration available,” which 
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Plaintiffs allege would not have been necessary had Defendants complied with the 

law.  Complaint, ¶ 4.  While this allegation might be construed as articulating an 

injury in fact, the nature of this alleged injury precludes any finding of causation. 

Plaintiffs have not alleged a sufficiently particularized injury that is fairly traceable 

to any challenged action of the Defendants and therefore they cannot satisfy the 

causation requirement of standing.  Common Cause, 554 F.3d at 1349; Cox, 408 

F.3d at 1352-53.   

 The only claims Plaintiffs alleged with any particularity in their notice 

and/or Complaint are their claims that Georgia law and DHS’ internal policies do 

not comply with the NVRA.  Complaint, ¶¶ 31-32.  Defendants have already 

addressed and resolved Plaintiffs’ claim with regard to DHS’ internal policies.  See 

Section C, infra.  As discussed in Section D, infra, Plaintiffs’ claim that Georgia 

law is in violation with the NVRA is without merit.  With regard to the remainder 

of their Complaint, Plaintiffs allege that the number of individuals who have 

registered at public assistance offices in Georgia has dropped significantly over the 

last several years.  However, except for providing Secretary Kemp with a copy of 

DHS’ internal policies and some general information, the NAACP has refused to 

provide any specific information or data in support of their claims that the 

Defendants are in violation of the NVRA.  The bald assertions Plaintiffs rely upon, 

both in the NAACP’s notice, and again in their Complaint, are simply insufficient.  
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Summers v. Earth Island Inst., 555 U.S. 488, 129 S.Ct. 1142, 1149 (2009) (to 

confer standing, plaintiffs must establish that they have sustained a “concrete, 

particularized injury in fact.”).    

 The claims made by Plaintiffs in this case appear to be similar in nature to 

those made by the Plaintiffs in the case of ACORN v. Scott, 2008 U.S.Dist. LEXIS 

51671 (C.D.Mo. 2008).  However, the Scott case is distinguishable from this case 

in two significant respects.  First, the plaintiffs in Scott included an individual who 

alleged that she had been denied voter registration services.  Second, in their notice 

to Defendants under Section 11, plaintiffs provided the Defendants with an eight-

page report summarizing the results of their investigation and their fact-gathering 

methods.  Id. at 12-13.  In the case at hand, the NAACP refused to provide any 

information to Defendants other than a copy of the DHS internal policies and some 

general information about Project Vote’s 2010 investigation, despite repeated 

requests from Secretary Kemp for additional information.  By refusing to provide 

any specific information regarding their investigation, Plaintiffs have also failed to 

allege any “particularized” injury” that is “fairly traceable” to the Defendants’ 

actions.   

Here in the Eleventh Circuit, in the Common Cause case, the court’s 

conclusion that the plaintiffs had standing was based on the fact that two of the 

plaintiffs were registered voters who did not possess acceptable photo 
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identification and were challenging the new photo identification requirement.  544 

F.3d at 1351.  Similarly, in the Cox case, one of the plaintiffs had attempted to 

change her address at a voter registration drive conducted by the Charles H. 

Wesley Education Foundation.  The foundation, along with several individuals, 

filed suit against the Secretary of State, challenging Secretary Kemp’s refusal to 

accept voter registration forms collected at a private voter registration drive that 

were mailed into the Secretary of State in a bundle.  Plaintiff alleged that the 

Secretary of State’s policy violated her rights under the NVRA as well as the First, 

Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution.  408 F.3d at 1351. 

 In contrast to the Scott, Common Cause, and Cox cases, there are no 

individual plaintiffs in this case and the Plaintiffs have not identified any 

individuals who have been denied the opportunity to register to vote at any public 

assistance office.  While an organizational plaintiff may be permitted to pursue 

claims on behalf of its members, that organizational plaintiff still bears the burden 

of proof in establishing standing by showing that its members have suffered a 

particularized injury sufficient to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.  

Plaintiffs have failed to state any such particularized claim in this case.   

 “To have Article III standing to pursue injunctive relief, even against 

violations of the Constitution, a plaintiff must have more than a merely 

hypothetical grievance: he or she must have an injury in fact that is capable of 

Case 1:11-cv-01849-CAP   Document 14-1    Filed 06/27/11   Page 14 of 28



 15 

being redressed by the injunction.”   Virdi v. Dekalb County Sch. Dist., 216 Fed. 

Appx. 867, 871 Virdi (11th Cir. 2007) (quoting Los Angeles v. Lyons, 461 U.S. 95, 

101, (1983)). “Past wrongs are insufficient to show an entitlement to an injunction 

against future wrongs. Moreover, standing is a jurisdictional bar.”  Virdi, 216 Fed. 

Appx. at 871 (quoting Lyons at 871).   

          B. Plaintiffs Failed To Comply With The Notice Provisions 

 Of The NVRA.   

 

 Even if the Court determines that Plaintiffs have standing for purposes of 

this motion to dismiss, Plaintiffs’ failure to provide notice under the NVRA 

requires dismissal of their claims.  The NVRA requires that any “aggrieved 

person” seeking relief under the Act must “provide written notice of the violation 

to the chief election official of the State involved,” before initiating a civil 

enforcement action.  42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-9(b)(1).  A private citizen is authorized to 

bring suit only “[i]f the violation is not corrected within ninety (90) days after 

receipt of a notice.”  Harkless, 545 F.3d at 452 (quoting 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-

9(b)(2).   

 The language and legislative history of 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-9(b) indicates 

that Congress structured the notice requirement with the intention that it would 

provide states with an opportunity to attempt compliance before facing litigation.  

ACORN v. Miller, 129 F.3d 833, 838 (6
th
 Cir. 1997).  See also Vladez v. Herrera, 

2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 142209 at *34 (D.N. Mex. 2010).  In Broyles v. Texas, 618 
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F. Supp. 2d 661, 691-92 (S.D. Tex. 2009), the court dismissed a claim brought by 

the plaintiffs under the NVRA because the first “notice” plaintiffs gave the 

Secretary of State was through the filing of their complaint.  As the court noted in 

that case:  “If notice was optional, the 90-day cure period would be superfluous.”   

 The content of the notice is also significant to determining whether the 

“notice” requirement has been satisfied.  If “notice” is given but the person giving 

notice fails to provide sufficient information in order to allow the State to 

determine what the alleged violation is, then the “notice” is meaningless and fails 

to satisfy the requirements set forth in Section 11.  See Scott, 2008 U.S. Dist. 

LEXIS 51671 at *13 (W.D. Mo. 2008) (ACORN provided an eight page report 

summarizing its fact-gathering methods and findings with its notice letter).  

 Plaintiff Peoples’ Agenda never provided notice to Secretary Kemp of any 

alleged violation of the NVRA prior to initiating this lawsuit.  Rather, on Friday, 

June 3, 2011, the NAACP sent a letter to Secretary Kemp advising him that a 

lawsuit would be filed “imminently” and that the NAACP would be joined in that 

lawsuit by the Peoples’ Agenda.  In fact, Plaintiffs’ filed this lawsuit the following 

Monday, June 6, 2011.  [Doc. 1].  Peoples’ Agenda not only failed to meet the 90-

day notice requirement, but that organization also failed to identify any alleged 

NVRA violation on the part of the State.  See Defendants’ Exhibit A-6.  The 

requirement of notice prior to exercising a private right of action for enforcement 
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of the NVRA does not mean that one organization can give notice, then have any 

number of additional organizations somehow claim credit for that notice and join 

in the filing of a lawsuit.   

 The purpose of the notice period is to provide the state with an opportunity 

to attempt compliance before facing litigation.  Miller, 129 F.3d at 838.  The 

NAACP sent a letter to Secretary Kemp on January 25, 2011, alleging that Georgia 

was “systemically failing to provide the voter registration services at its public 

assistance offices that are required by the NVRA.”  Defendants’ Exhibit A at 2.  

However, the NAACP has failed to provide Secretary Kemp with any specific 

information in support of this claim.  Compare Scott, 2008 U.S.Dist. LEXIS at *13 

(plaintiffs provided Secretary of State with an eight-page report summarizing the 

results of their investigation and their fact-gathering methods plaintiffs provided 

Secretary of State with .  Because Plaintiff Peoples’ Agenda failed to provide any 

notice at all, it must be dismissed from the case, and because Plaintiff the NAACP 

failed to provide proper notice to Defendants of any claims beyond the issues of 

Georgia law and DHS’ internal policies, their remaining claims should be 

dismissed for failure to comply with the notice requirement set forth in 42 U.S.C.  

§ 1973gg-9(b)(1).     
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 C. Plaintiffs’ Only Recognizable Claim Is Moot. 

 “A case is moot when events subsequent to the commencement of a lawsuit 

create a situation in which the court can no longer give the plaintiff meaningful 

relief.”  Nat'l Ass'n of Bds. of Pharm. v. Bd. of Regents, 633 F.3d 1297, 1308 (11
th
 

Cir. 2011).  In this case, Plaintiffs’ only recognizable claim became moot based on 

events that occurred even before this lawsuit was filed based on the Defendants’ 

actions during the 90-day notice period and even before then.  Plaintiffs 

complained that two internal DHS policies issued on August 1, 2009 were contrary 

to the requirements of the NVRA.  Defendants’ Exhibit B.  However, one of those 

policies was corrected three months later on November 1, 2009.  The other was 

corrected on April 21, 2011, prior to the initiation of this lawsuit.   

 A claim that a case is moot involves the basic determination of justiciability 

of plaintiffs’ claims and, as such, should be decided under Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(1).  

Nat'l Ass'n of Bds. of Pharm. v. Bd. of Regents, 633 F.3d at 1308.  “Generally, the 

party asserting mootness bears the heavy burden of persuading the court that the 

challenged conduct cannot reasonably be expected to start up again.”  633 F.3d at 

1310 (citations and quotations omitted).  The government enjoys a rebuttable 

presumption that the objectionable behavior will not recur.  Id.  “[T]he Supreme 

Court has held almost uniformly that voluntary cessation [by a government 

defendant] moots the claim.”  Id.  (citations and quotations omitted).   
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 DHS issued two memoranda on August 1, 2009, amending its TANF and 

Medicaid policies.  In addition to other revisions, both policies’ voter registration 

policies were revised to provide that once an applicant or recipient had declined in 

writing to register to vote, staff were not required to offer voter registration 

services in the future.  Defendants’ Exhibits B and C.  This revision to prior policy 

was inconsistent with the NVRA and Georgia law.  42 U.S.C. §§ 42 U.S.C. 

1973gg-2(a)(3)(B) and 1973gg-5(a)(6)(A) and O.C.G.A. § 21-2-222(f)(1).   

 DHS corrected its Medicaid voter registration policy on November 1, 2009.  

Defendants’ Exhibit D.  On April 21, 2011, DHS issued a memorandum to all DHS 

personnel as well as all personnel working at public assistance offices, which 

clarified DHS’ voter registration policies, including the TANF August 1, 2009 

policy.  The April 21, 2011 memorandum states that all applicants or recipients 

must be offered voter registration services each time they apply in person when the 

applicant or recipient is applying for services, recertifying or renewing, or 

reporting a change of address.  Defendants’ Exhibit E.    

 As a state government, Defendants are entitled to the rebuttable presumption 

that no further violations will recur with regard to DHS’ internal voter registration 

policies.  DHS corrected its Medicaid voter registration policy in November 2009, 

only three months after that policy had been changed.  DHS corrected its TANF 

voter registration policy in April 2011, following notice from the NAACP but 
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before this lawsuit was filed.  Both of these actions by DHS demonstrate that the 

agency intended and intends to comply with its legal obligations under the NVRA 

and took immediate corrective action when it was made aware of a problem.  Nat'l 

Ass'n of Bds. of Pharm., 633 F.3d at 1310.   

 Based on DHS’ April 21, 2011 memorandum, Plaintiffs’ Complaint that 

DHS’ internal policies regarding voter registration requirements are not in 

compliance with the NVRA is moot and should be dismissed.  Id.  See also In re 

City of Fall River, 470 F. 3d 30, 32 (1
st
 Cir. 2006) (petition for writ of mandamus 

moot based on U.S. Department of Transportation’s subsequent adoption of rules); 

Charles H. Wesley Education Foundation, Inc. v. State Election Board, 282 Ga. 

707 (2008)(affirming trial court’s decision that plaintiff’s claim for declaratory 

judgment and mandamus was moot based on State Election Board’s subsequent 

action on proposed rules).   

 D. Georgia Law Limiting The Requirement Of Voter   

  Registration To In Person Transactions Complies With  

  The NVRA.   

 

 Plaintiffs allege that Georgia law does not comply with the NVRA because 

only those participating in a covered transaction who appear in person at public 

assistance offices are offered the opportunity to vote.  Complaint, ¶¶ 31 and 36.  

Plaintiffs’ claim ignores the plain language of both the state and federal statutes, 

which both explicitly state that limitation.   
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 Section 4 of the NVRA provides that “notwithstanding any other Federal or 

State law” . . . “each State shall establish procedures to register to vote in elections 

for Federal office” . . . “by application in person - -” . . . “at a Federal, State, or 

nongovernmental office designated under section 7 [42 USCS § 1973gg-5].”  

Section 7 provides that state public assistance offices are “designated voter 

registration agencies” as provided under Section 4.  42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-

5(a)(2)(A).  

 Georgia law incorporates the language from both 42 U.S.C.  

§§ 1973(b)(3)(B) and 1973gg-5(a)(2)(A) to provide that voter registration 

applications shall be distributed each time that an applicant or recipient makes an 

application, recertification, renewal or change of address “in person” at a public 

assistance office unless the applicant declines in writing to register to vote.  

O.C.G.A. § 21-2-222.     

In interpreting the meaning of a statute, the Court must assume that 

Congress used the words of the statute as they are commonly and ordinarily 

understood and must construe the statute so each provision is given full effect.  

United States v. McLymont, 45 F.3d 400, 401 (11
th

 Cir. 1995).  The court must also 

read Section 4 and 7 together to determine their meaning and intent.  Graupner v.  

Nuvell Credit Corp. (In re Graupner), 537 F.3d 1295, 1299 (11th Cir. 2008) 

(related statutes should be read in pari materia to determine the legislative intent).  
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 The “common and ordinary” meaning of “in person” is “face to face.”  

Section 4 provides for “application in person” at “designated” state offices, which 

includes public assistance offices.  There is no language in Section 7 or any other 

Section of the NVRA that suggests that voter registration services are to be 

provided in any manner other than “in person.”  To read the NVRA to require 

states to provide anything more that “application[s] in person” would not give “full 

effect” to the phrase “in person.”  McLymont, 45 F.3d at 401.  Absent an indication 

that applying the plain language of a statute would “yield patent absurdity, [the 

Court’s] obligation is to apply the statute as Congress wrote it.”  Robbins v. 

Chronister, 402 F.3d 1047, 1050 (10th Cir. 2005).  There is no language in Section 

7 that supports a different reading.  See also TRW, Inc. v. Andrews, 534 U.S. 19, 31 

(2001) (“It is a cardinal principle of statutory construction that a statute ought, 

upon the whole, to be so construed that, if it can be prevented, no clause, sentence, 

or word shall be superfluous, void, or insignificant”) (internal quotation marks 

omitted).   

 Section 4(a) also includes the phrase “notwithstanding any other Federal or 

State law.”  42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-2(a).  “[T]he use of such a ‘notwithstanding’ 

clause clearly signals the drafter's intention that the provisions of the 

‘notwithstanding’ section override conflicting provisions of any other section.”  

Cisneros v. Alpine Ridge Group, 508 U.S. 10, 18 (1993).  See also Liberty 
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Maritime Corp. v. United States, 928 F.2d 413, 417, n. 4 (D.C.Cir. 1991) (the 

“notwithstanding” clause means the section to which it applies takes precedence 

over any other law, whether within the same statute or another statute).  In 

Cisneros, the Supreme Court noted that “the Courts of Appeals generally have 

interpreted similar 'notwithstanding' language . . . to supersede all other laws, 

stating that [a] clearer statement is difficult to imagine.”  Id. (citations and 

quotations omitted).  See also United States v. DeCay, 620 F.3d 534, 540 (5
th
 Cir. 

2010) (“the use of a "notwithstanding" clause signals Congressional intent to 

supersede conflicting provisions of any other statute.”).   

The Georgia legislature adopted the “in person” language from Section 4 

into its law.  O.C.G.A. § 21-2-222(f)(1) (which requires each voter registration 

agency to distribute a mail voter registration application form to each applicant or 

recipient who appears in person to request an application, recertification, renewal 

or change of address).   

 Plaintiffs allege that by limiting voter registration services at public 

assistance office to “in person” applications, the State of Georgia is acting “in 

direct contravention of the ‘guidance’ provided by the Department of Justice 

(“DOJ”) on implementation of the NVRA (citing to 

(http://www.justice.gov/crt/about/vot/nvra/nvra_faq.php).  Complaint, ¶ 36.    
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 The Department of Justice publishes guidance or promulgates regulations in 

order to implement federal laws, which it is charged to uphold and defend.  See 

e.g., See Georgia v. Ashcroft, 195 F. Supp. 2d 25, 30 (N.D. Ga. 2002) (citing 

Guidance Concerning Redistricting and Retrogression under Section 5 of the 

Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973c, 66 Fed. Reg. 5,411 (Jan. 18, 2001)); Parr v. 

L & L Drive-Inn Restaurant, 96 F. Supp. 2d 1065, 1086 (D. Hw. 2000) (citing 28 

CFR Part 36, App., which implemented the standards required under Title III of 

the ADA).  However, when it does so, such guidance or regulations are published 

in either the Federal Register or the Code of Federal Regulations.  DOJ has not 

published any guidance or regulations implementing the NVRA.  

 On its web page, DOJ states that because many public assistance offices 

offer services by “internet, by telephone, or by mail,” . . . “States should ensure the 

availability of voter-registration opportunities to individuals using such remote 

service/assistance opportunities from designated agencies.” 

(http://www.justice.gov/crt/about/vot/nvra/nvra_faq.php)   

(last accessed on June 27, 2011).
4
  When the NVRA was passed in 1993, telephone 

and mail services were certainly available and the internet was starting to become 

more widely available.  If Congress had intended to require designated agencies to 

                                                 
4
  This information was provided in response to the question:  “Do the voter 

registration requirements of Section 7 of the NVRA apply to all application, 

renewal, recertification and change of address transactions with designated 

offices?” 
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distribute applications in this matter, as well as “in person”, it could have said so in 

the statute.  DOJ has never formally issued any guidance or promulgated any rules 

to this effect.  Even if DOJ had issued any advise or promulgated any rules to this 

effect, the “notwithstanding” clause of Section 4 would render such administrative 

regulations nugatory.   

 Based on the basic rules of statutory interpretation, the “notwithstanding” 

clause contained in Section 4 requires that no other section of the NVRA or any 

other law – or guidance or regulation -- can be read to override the language 

contained in Section 4.  Maritime Corp., 928 F.2d at 417.  The inclusion of “in 

person” in O.C.G.A. § 21-2-222(f)(a) is consistent with Section 4 of the NVRA.  

Plaintiffs’ argument that Georgia law is not in compliance with the NVRA is 

without merit.   

CONCLUSION 
 

           Based on the foregoing argument and citation of authority, Defendants 

respectfully submit that the Plaintiffs’ Complaint should be dismissed in its 

entirety and all costs case against the Plaintiffs.   

            Respectfully submitted, 

  

      SAMUEL S. OLENS          551540 

      Attorney General             

  

                                                          [signatures continued on next page] 
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            DENNIS R. DUNN             234098 

                                                          Deputy Attorney General 

  

                                                          STEFAN RITTER               606950 

                                                          Senior Assistant Attorney General 

  

  

                                                          _/s/ Julia B. Anderson________         

                           JULIA B. ANDERSON      017560 

                                                          Senior Assistant Attorney General 

 

Please address all  

communications to: 

  

JULIA B. ANDERSON 

Senior Assistant Attorney General 
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